INTRODUCTION 

A typical course of action for someone who has, unfortunately, guaranteed a bad loan with 

other parties is to pay off the principal’s debt and, if necessary, file an action seeking proportionate 

contribution from the others.  On occasion, a guarantor might purchase the defaulted loan and the 

other guaranties outright.  But that is merely a variation on a theme.  The guarantor is nonetheless 

entitled to no more than his co-guarantors’ pro rata contribution toward the underlying debt. 

The case at bar is anything but typical.  Here, a guarantor who had posted collateral for and 

guaranteed the entire multi-million dollar debt established an alter ego, had the alter ego purchase 

the debt and the loan documents (including the other guaranties), released all of the collateral back 

to the guarantor, and then sued the remaining guarantors for the entire debt plus attorney fees 

under the loan agreement.  An award of attorney fees is unavailable in an ordinary contribution 

action.  Most distressing and atypical is that the guarantor did all that notwithstanding its 

assurances to the others that they would be taken care of and shielded from liability in the event 

of default. 

The circuit court saw through the scheme; nonetheless, it ruled one of the co-guarantors 

liable for the contribution.  On appeal, this Court is being asked to reverse the circuit court’s 

judgment by discharging the co-guarantor from all liability.  To do that, this Court need not decide 

that the scheme was illegal.  This Court need not pronounce the scheme unethical.  All this Court 

must really determine is whether, had the co-guarantor known that such a scheme was foreseeable 

when he gave and then reaffirmed his guaranty, he would have proceeded to do so.  Manifestly, 

the answer to that question is a resounding ”No.” 
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ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. The circuit court erred in granting partial summary judgment to the Trust on its claim for 
contribution, as Segal instead was entitled to judgment through application of the doctrine 
of discharge by supervening frustration and the rule of discharge by alteration of the 
principal’s duties or obligations. 

II. Alternatively, the circuit court erred as a matter of law by adjudging Segal equally liable 
in contribution with the Trust for the cost of acquiring the Note, where Segal’s guaranty 
was for only one-sixth of the total guaranties on the Note. 

III. The circuit court erred in granting summary judgment to the Trust on Segal’s counterclaim 
for breach of contract, for which he is entitled to a trial. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In 2001, scientists and researchers affiliated with West Virginia University founded Protea 

Biosciences, Inc., a Morgantown-based company using mass spectrometry in the identification of 

biomolecules to analyze associated biological processes.  Joint Appendix (“JA”) 15.  It was hoped 

that Protea’s research would lend insight to combat certain diseases and perhaps even lead to a 

cure for cancer.  Id. at 1296.  Throughout the ensuing decade, the technology startup attracted 

interest and investment from several prominent West Virginians and other area notables.  Id.  In 

2006, Stanley Hostler, an attorney serving on the governing body of the WVU Foundation, became 

an officer and director of  Protea.  Id. at 235, 237.  Two years later, the company elected attorney 

Scott Segal as a director.  Id.  Hostler and Segal joined, among others, Maryland systems engineer 

and consultant Leonard Harris, who had been a member of the Protea Board since 2003.  Id.  Apart 

from their service as directors, Hostler, Segal, and Harris each invested significant sums in Protea 

through stock purchases and otherwise.  Id. at 92, 400. 

As Protea’s business developed, its principals sought to attract more investment.  Not long 

after Hostler was named to the Board, he convinced his friend — entrepreneur and philanthropist 

Milan Puskar — to join him as a director and to invest $100,000 in Protea.  JA 92.  By 2009, the 
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company had grown and required additional capital.  Puskar was on the board at Centra Bank, with 

which he kept his personal accounts and coordinated millions of dollars’ worth of financial 

transactions for a number of his business entities.  Id. at 1303-06.  On August 27, 2009, Centra 

issued Protea a $3 million revolving line of credit, evidenced by a Loan Agreement and a 

Promissory Note.  Id. at 231-32, 1005.  Segal, Harris, Hostler, and Puskar executed individual 

guaranties for $1 million each to obtain the loan.  Id. at 127-28, 131-32, 135-36, 2611.  Protea 

drew down the entire amount. 

Notwithstanding that the $3 million loan was adequately anchored (and then some) by the 

$4 million of individual guaranties, Puskar, as sole trustee of the Milan Puskar Revocable Trust, 

executed a new guaranty on July 30, 2010 (the “Umbrella Guaranty”) whereby the Trust agreed to 

cover the entire liability in case Protea defaulted.  JA 248-49.  Puskar knew that he was dying, id. 

at 1180, 1874, and he told Hostler that the purpose of the new guaranty was to afford the bank 

primary recourse against the Trust in the event of Protea’s default, obviating the need to collect on 

the individual guaranties, id. at 1174-75, 1185-86.  Specifically, Hostler stated under oath: 

In early 2011 I became aware that Mike was terminally ill because of prostate 
cancer.  He and I continued to discuss WVU, politics, and the activities of Protea.  
About two weeks prior to his death, he and I met to discuss the financial affairs of 
Protea as well as my limited resources.  At the end of the meeting he stated that in 
the event Protea did not make it, he had taken steps to see I did not get hurt.  His 
last words to me were, “I’ll see you at church,” as he gave me a hug.  I represented 
this conversation to [Protea] CEO [Stephen] Turner within a few days. 
 

Id. at 1180.  Hostler recounted his conversation with Puskar in a sworn affidavit dated August 31, 

2012.  Id. at 1890.  Puskar also enjoyed close friendships with Harris and Segal, and he informed 

them as well that the Trust guaranty was intended to satisfy any Protea default without rendering 

them liable on their individual guaranties.  Id. at 382.  Puskar pointedly told Harris that he was 

happy to ensure that his co-guarantors’ obligations “would be taken care of.”  Id. at 382, 2608. 
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Puskar died on October 7, 2011.  JA at 1877.  Shortly after his death, on November 9, 2011, 

the Trust (reorganized as the Milan Puskar Revocable Trust Restated 9/28/11), through its 

successor trustees, pledged 500,000 shares of Mylan Laboratories, Inc., common stock to Centra 

to secure the Trust’s various obligations.  Id. at 327, 1310-11.  At the time, the stock was worth 

more than $9 million.  Id. at 2475.  The stock was housed in a brokerage account, the entirety of 

whose assets was pledged on January 12, 2012, as security for the Protea loan and others to which 

the Trust was bound as borrower or guarantor.  Id. at 621-24.  After Centra was acquired by merger 

into United Bank, Inc., during 2011-12 (the latter being merged in 2017 into United Bank), the 

Trust on July 1, 2013, reaffirmed its pledge of the brokerage account as collateral and, after most 

of the stock was converted to cash over the next several years, moved the bulk of the account assets 

to a money market account.  Id. at 329-36, 520, 1325-26. 

To secure the money market account as collateral for the Protea loan, the parties executed 

a Change in Terms Agreement with United on January 26, 2017.  JA 1006-07.  In so doing, Protea, 

the Trust, and the individual guarantors each confirmed that they were “still bound by the terms of 

the instruments and prior modifications, extensions, and supplements” with respect to the August 

27, 2009 Note, “and that those terms will continue to bind the Parties as provided in this Agreement 

and those instruments.”  Id. at 1006.   

Protea made only occasional, token payments on the Note principal during the eight years 

after taking out the loan, and in 2017 its financial struggles appeared to become more acute.  In 

mid-autumn 2017, Trust officials “heard there were issues with Protea and if things didn’t resolve 

quickly with them that they might be filing bankruptcy.”  JA 1441.  With the cash and stock 

collateral perceived at risk, the Trust retained counsel and devised a scheme that — if not for being 

too clever by half — might be described as ingenious. 
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The Trust could have honored its commitment, through Puskar, to the individual guarantors 

and simply let United satisfy Protea’s $3 million indebtedness by the transfer of the money market 

account assets.  Or, being a co-guarantor of the loan, the Trust could have paid off the $3 million 

indebtedness commensurate with the full extent of its guaranty, and, if it then chose to renege on 

its agreement with the individual guarantors, initiated an action for contribution against them to 

determine the proportionate liability of each. 

Contribution actions, however — as the circuit court recognized — do not permit the 

recovery of attorney fees, absent an agreement or statutory provision to the contrary.  See 38A 

C.J.S. Guaranty § 65 (2022); JA 2612 (“When one guarantor sues another on the basis of the 

latter’s guaranty, the plaintiff guarantor is not entitled to attorneys’ fees.  This is true even if, as 

here, the plaintiff guarantor has acquired the underlying note” (collecting cases)).  PITA was not 

nominally a guarantor of the underlying loan, though, and, taking advantage of that, hoped to avail 

itself of the assigned loan documents, evidencing Protea’s agreement “to pay all expenses of 

collection, enforcement, and protection of Lender’s rights and remedies . . . . includ[ing], but [] 

not limited to, reasonable attorneys’ fees.”  JA 232.  And to be sure, PITA and the Trust included 

a demand for attorney fees in their Amended Complaint.  Id. at 104. 

Instead, on November 21, 2017, the Trust filed paperwork with the West Virginia Secretary 

of State to form an entity called PITA, LLC.  JA 632-35.1  On the first day of its existence, PITA 

paid United $3 million plus $26,904.16 in interest, obtaining assignment of the Note, the Loan 

Agreement, the collateral, and the guaranties.  Id. at 338, 1008-09, 1333.  The bank waived over 

 
1 There appears to be no record evidence concerning the origin of the entity’s name, although the 

online version of the Cambridge Dictionary aptly defines PITA as an “abbreviation for pain in the arse; 
used, for example, on social media and in text messages, to refer to someone or something that is annoying.”  
PITA Definition, DICTIONARY.CAMBRIDGE.ORG, https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/pita 
(last visited Nov. 17, 2022). 

https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/pita
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$17,000 in late charges.  Id. at 613, 618.  The next day, PITA informed United in writing that, as 

assignee, it was relinquishing its security interest in the brokerage account (including the 23,321 

remaining shares of the Mylan stock) and in the money market account, instructing the bank to 

tender those assets to the Trust.  Id. at 337.  On December 1, 2017, Protea filed for Chapter 11 

bankruptcy reorganization.  Id. at 351-52. 

  Standing in the shoes of the bank via the assignment, PITA, on December 8, 2017, made 

demand of Segal, Harris and the estate of Hostler (who died in June of that year) for the full amount 

of their respective $1 million guaranties in satisfaction of the loan principal, accrued and accruing 

interest, and late fees.  Id. at 125-26, 129-30, 133-34.  In its final order, the circuit court found as 

a fact that PITA was “wholly financed by the Trust and was created solely to acquire the Note, 

release the collateral that Protea and guarantors had posted, and pursue a financial recovery on the 

Trust’s behalf from the other guarantors.”  Id. at 2608.  At the prefatory hearing, the court stated, 

“I find that the Trust did pay the note by providing the money to PITA, which is nothing more than 

the Trust doing business as PITA.”  Id. at 2427. 

Segal, Harris, and the Hostler estate each refused PITA’s demands to make good on their 

individual guaranties, relying on the Trust to instead make good on its agreement that they “would 

be taken care of” by the Umbrella Guaranty and pledge of collateral.  On September 12, 2018, 

PITA and the Trust (collectively, “Plaintiffs”) commenced suit in the Circuit Court of Monongalia 

County against the individual guarantors (collectively, “Defendants”), JA 14-24, who then filed a 

Third-Party Complaint against United with respect to the guaranties and for impairment of the loan 

collateral, id. at 81-88.  The operative Amended Complaint, submitted on February 25, 2019, id. 

at 89-105, alleges on behalf of PITA in Count I and for the Trust in Count II claims for fraudulent 

inducement by virtue of Defendants’ execution of the guaranties and the Change in Terms 
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Agreement; in Count III a claim by PITA for breach of contract, stemming from Defendants’ 

refusal to honor their assigned guaranties; and in Count IV a claim for contribution to the Trust in 

the event that it “is forced to maintain a disproportionate share of liability under the Protea Note.”  

Id. at 103. 

After the circuit court denied their motion to dismiss the Amended Complaint, Defendants 

answered on December 12, 2019, JA 162-91, asserting counterclaims against the Trust for breach 

of the contract made by Puskar, for breach of fiduciary duty, and for illegally conspiring with 

United and PITA to injure them, id. at 186-90.  Following a hearing on June 9, 2021, the circuit 

court entered an order on August 13, 2021, dismissing Defendants’ counterclaims and upholding 

the validity of the individual guaranties; the court also granted summary judgment to United, 

dismissing Defendants’ Third-Party Complaint with prejudice.  Id. at 586-99.  The parties then 

filed cross-motions for summary judgment, written rulings on which were deferred through the 

course of a motions hearing on January 13, 2022, and a pretrial hearing on March 7, 2022.  Harris 

died during the pendency of the case, and both his estate and Hostler’s settled with Plaintiffs and 

were dismissed from the proceedings in early 2022.  Id. at 1967-72 (Hostler), 1973-78 (Harris). 

The circuit court conducted one last hearing on May 27, 2022, after which it entered a final 

order on July 21, 2022.  JA 2603-2616.  Therein, the court entered judgment for Segal on Plaintiffs’ 

Count I and Count II fraud claims, and on PITA’s Count III claim for breach of contract.  The 

order ruled the latter claim “legally insufficient as a matter of law,” elaborating: 

The Court finds that under the facts of this case, PITA is not a non-interested 
independent third party but is one and the same with the Trust.  The Court finds 
that the Trust provided the funds to pay the Note in full in 2017.  In this case 
equitable principles limit recovery against co-guarantors to their pro rata 
contributive share through a claim for contribution.  Accordingly, PITA’s breach 
of contract claim is dismissed with prejudice. 
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Id. at 2604.  The circuit court granted summary judgment to the Trust on its Count IV claim for 

contribution.  Notwithstanding that Segal’s $1 million guaranty was only one-third of the $3 

million for which the Trust had rendered itself liable, the court concluded that “Segal and the Trust 

are equally responsible for the remaining balance on the Note after the settlements of the [Hostler 

and Harris estates] are deducted from the Note’s balance.”  Id. at 2611.  With respect to Puskar’s 

individual $1 million guaranty, the court observed that his estate closed in 2015, prior to the 2017 

events giving rise to the lawsuit, thus extinguishing any claim.  Id. at 2614. 

On August 22, 2022, Segal timely appealed the circuit court’s final order.  Segal contends 

that the court below erroneously enforced his guaranty in entering judgment for the Trust for any 

sum on the contribution claim.  In the alternative and to the extent that Segal must bear any liability 

for the Note at all, he maintains that the court misallocated the proportionate liability between him 

and the Trust.  Lastly, the circuit court should not have dismissed Segal’s counterclaim for breach 

of contract, in that the Trust was obligated to honor Puskar’s agreement to “take care of” him and 

hold him harmless from liability under his individual guaranty.2 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The summary judgment awarded to the Trust on its contribution claim against Segal should 

be reversed and the cause remanded for entry of judgment for Segal.  First, Segal’s guaranty is 

void in accordance with the equitable doctrine of supervening frustration, as the Trust eviscerated 

Segal’s principal purpose in his executing the Change in Terms Agreement and in otherwise 

remaining associated with Protea.  Second, voiding Segal’s guaranty is also consistent with the 

rule of discharge by alteration of the principal’s duties or obligations.  Simply put, the Trust, by 

 
2 In his Notice of Appeal, Segal identified the circuit court’s grant of summary judgment to United 

on his third-party claim as a potential assignment of error.  JA 2642.  On further reflection, Segal elects not 
to pursue that issue on appeal. 
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stripping the collateral securing the Note, significantly changed the relationship between Protea 

and its loan creditor.  Even if Segal’s guaranty is not discharged, the circuit court’s entry of 

judgment against him for contribution in excess of $975,000 was excessive and in error, as 

pursuant to the rule of proportional contribution, Segal’s $1 million guaranty vis à vis the Trust’s 

guaranty for $3 million means that he cannot be liable for more than approximately $505,000.  

Finally, the district court erred in awarding summary judgment to the Trust on Segal’s 

counterclaim for breach of contract.  Segal’s counterclaim should be remanded for trial because a 

reasonable jury could find all the essential elements of the counterclaim have been met. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

This matter is of fundamental public importance and its resolution will involve deciding 

certain issues of first impression.  The questions presented by this appeal are therefore appropriate 

for oral argument in accordance with Rule 20(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate 

Procedure.  As such, none of the criteria for deciding this appeal without oral argument, set forth 

in Rule 18(a), are applicable. 

ARGUMENT 

Standard of Review 

“A circuit court’s entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo.”  Syl. pt. 1, Painter v. 

Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994).  The trial court may grant a motion for summary 

judgment only if the pleadings and record evidence “show that there is no genuine issue as to any 

material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”  W. VA. R. CIV. 

P. 56(c).  “A material fact is one that has the capacity to sway the outcome of the litigation under 

the applicable law.”  Syl. pt. 5, Jividen v. Law, 194 W. Va. 705, 461 S.E.2d 451 (1995).  A case 

presents a “genuine” issue whenever “there is sufficient evidence favoring the non-moving party 
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for a reasonable jury to return a verdict for that party.”  Id.  In determining the existence of a 

genuine issue, a reviewing court “must draw any permissible inference from the underlying facts 

in most favorable light to the party opposing the motion.”  Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 

W. Va. 52, 59, 459 S.E.2d 329, 336 (1995) (citations omitted).  Moreover, denial of summary 

judgment is required “even where there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts in the case but only 

as to the conclusions to be drawn therefrom.”  Id. (citation omitted).  Finally, “[i]n cases of 

substantial doubt, the safer course of action is to deny the motion and proceed to trial.”  Id. 

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING PARTIAL SUMMARY 
JUDGMENT TO THE TRUST ON ITS CLAIM FOR CONTRIBUTION, AS 
SEGAL INSTEAD WAS ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT THROUGH APPLICATION 
OF THE DOCTRINE OF DISCHARGE BY SUPERVENING FRUSTRATION AND 
THE RULE OF DISCHARGE BY ALTERATION OF THE PRINCIPAL’S DUTIES 
OR OBLIGATIONS. 

 
A. Segal’s guaranty should be discharged because his principal purpose in performing 

the operative contracts was frustrated following his execution of the Change in 
Terms Agreement. 

 
West Virginia recognizes the doctrine of discharge by supervening frustration, although 

the Supreme Court of Appeals has had no occasion to apply it.  See Waddy v. Riggleman, 216 W. 

Va. 250, 257 n.9, 606 S.E.2d 222, 229 n.9 (2004); see also McGinnis v. Cayton, 173 W. Va. 102, 

110 n.10, 312 S.E.2d 765, 774 n.10 (1984) (Harshbarger, J., concurring).  The doctrine provides: 

Where, after a contract is made, a party’s principal purpose is substantially 
frustrated without his fault by the occurrence of an event the non-occurrence of 
which was a basic assumption on which the contract was made, his remaining duties 
to render performance are discharged, unless the language or the circumstances 
indicate the contrary. 
 

Waddy, 216 W. Va. at 257 n.9, 606 S.E.2d at 229 n.9 (quoting RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF 

CONTRACTS § 265 (1981)).  Professor Corbin notes that  

the cases turn on the degree of hardship caused by the supervening event, the 
foreseeability of the event, the language of the contract possibly allocating such

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