IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 22-ICA-4

ICA EFiled: Jan 05 2023 02:24PM EST

Transaction ID 68808049

PITA, LLC, AND MILAN PUSKAR REVOCABLE TRUST RESTATED 9/28/11, Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners

v.

SCOTT S. SEGAL,

Defendant Below, Respondent.

and

No. 22-ICA-46

SCOTT S. SEGAL,

Defendant Below, Petitioner

v.

PITA, LLC, AND MILAN PUSKAR REVOCABLE TRUST RESTATED 9/28/11, Plaintiffs Below, Respondents

and

UNITED BANK,
Third-Party Defendant Below, Respondent

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Counsel for Respondents

Ancil G. Ramey (WVSB # 3013)
Anders W. Lindberg (WVSB # 8876)
Steptoe & Johnson PLLC
P.O. Box 2195
Huntington, WV 25722-2195
Phone (304) 526-8133

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment to Segal on the Respondents' fraud claim; in granting summary judgment to Segal on PITA's contract claim; and in crediting Segal on the contribution claim by the Trust with a partially-funded settlement by the coguarantors.

¹⁰² The Milan Puskar Foundation is the sole beneficiary of the Trust. App. 741. The Trust formed PITA as a subsidiary to hold the Protea Note as an asset. App. 742. Anything collected by PITA relative to the Protea Note is transferred to the Trust and then to the Foundation for its charitable purposes. App. 743.

¹⁰³ App. 13.

¹⁰⁴ *Id*.

V. ARGUMENT

A. BECAUSE SEGAL NEVER RAISED THE DEFENSES OF DISCHARGE BY SUPERVENING FRUSTRATION OR THE RULE OF DISCHARGE BY ALTERATION IN THE CIRCUIT COURT, THEY HAVE BEEN WAIVED.

Segal's primary legal argument on appeal is that his "guaranty should be discharged because his principal purpose in performing the operative contracts was frustrated following his execution of the Change in Terms Agreement." The word "supervening" appears nowhere in the record. The record contains the word "frustration" once in reference to a court opinion: "Pezeshkan sent an email to Kearley expressing his frustrations with Regions." Neither of the cases cited in Segal's Brief for this new defense to enforcing his 2009 guaranty and 2017 reaffirmation – Waddy v. Riggleman¹⁰⁷ or McGinnis v. Cayton¹⁰⁸ – appears anywhere in the record. Nor did Segal previously cite CORBIN ON CONTRACTS, and the only reference to this publication in the record, is within a court opinion attached to a brief; that reference, to Section 924, affirms that a coguarantor has the right to collect ratably among other coguarantors.

Similarly, the phrase "discharge by alteration" appears nowhere in the record. Segal did cite the 1912 case of *Carr v. Sutton*, ¹¹⁰ but not for the proposition that an alteration by Protea (the principal) had discharged him from his 2009 guaranty and 2017 reaffirmation agreements; rather, Segal falsely claims an alteration by PITA should discharge his guaranties: "PITA ... has no

¹⁰⁵ Petitioner's Brief at 10.

¹⁰⁶ App. 794.

¹⁰⁷ 216 W. Va. 250, 606 S.E.2d 222 (2004).

¹⁰⁸ 173 W. Va. 102, 312 S.E.2d 765 (1984).

¹⁰⁹ App. 947.

¹¹⁰ 70 W. Va. 417, 74 S.E. 239 (1912).

intention of, holding either the Trust or the Estate of Milan Puskar accountable for their respective obligations under the Note." Remarkably, Segal makes this claim when (a) the Trust funded the more than \$3 million acquisition of the Protea Note; (b) Mr. Puskar died years before Protea's default, his Estate had been closed, and the Estate's obligations under the 2009 guaranty had been discharged; and (c) PITA would still be looking to the Trust for its pro rata share of the Protea debt obligation. More remarkably, Segal cites to *Carr* for this claim, when *Carr* turned on a bondsman's defense that he was absolved from liability because the authorities had allowed a prisoner to escape and made no effort to apprehend him as this Court held in Syllabus Point 1: "Where bail, when required by [a] surety on [a] bond of indemnity, [is sought to be forfeited because a jailer] fails to arrest and deliver [the] principal into custody, and allows him to escape, [the] surety on indemnity bond [will be] held discharged." To the question "what this has to do with the present case?" the answer is "nothing." The "principal" on Segal's 2009 guaranty and 2017 reaffirmation agreements was Protea, which filed for bankruptcy protection, and PITA did not allow Protea to escape and then fail to apprehend it. It filed a bankruptcy claim against it and has received nothing.

In Syllabus Point 2 of *Sands v. Security Trust Co.*, ¹¹³ this Court held that it "will not pass on a nonjurisdictional question which has not been decided by the trial court in the first instance." Stated another way, "In the exercise of its appellate jurisdiction, this Court will not decide nonjurisdictional questions which were not considered and decided by the court from which the

¹¹¹ App. 725.

¹¹² The only other case cited by Segal below was *Williams v. Carr*, 76 W. Va. 139, 85 S.E. 69 (1915), which arose from similar facts and likewise has no application to this case where PITA filed a bankruptcy claim against Protea.

¹¹³ 143 W. Va. 522, 102 S.E.2d 733 (1958).

appeal has been taken."¹¹⁴ Moreover, W. Va. R. App. P. 10(c)(7) requires, in relevant part, that "[t]he argument must contain appropriate and specific citations to the record on appeal, including citations that pinpoint when and how the issues in the assignments of error were presented to the lower tribunal." Segal's Brief does not "pinpoint when and how" the defense of the doctrine of supervening frustration or rule of discharge by alteration were "presented to the lower tribunal," because they were not. Accordingly, they have been waived.¹¹⁵

B. THE DOCTRINE OF SUPERVENING FRUSTRATION HAS NO APPLICATION WHERE (1) THE PRINCIPAL PURPOSE OF SEGAL'S 2009 GUARANTY AND 2017 REAFFIRMATION, WHICH WAS TO SECURE PAYMENT OF PROTEA'S INDEBTEDNESS TO UNITED, WAS NEVER FRUSTRATED BY THE OCCURRENCE OF AN EVENT OR THE NON-OCCURRENCE OF AN EVENT WHICH WAS A BASIC ASSUMPTION WHEN SEGAL SIGNED THE 2009 GUARANTY AND 2017 REAFFIRMATION AND (2) THE DOCTRINE APPLIES ONLY TO CLAIMS OF BREACH OF CONTRACT, NOT TO CLAIMS OF CONTRIBUTION AND FRAUD.

One reason which may explain why Segal never raised the doctrine of supervening frustration below is that it has absolutely no application here. In *Waddy*, the dispute involved the sale of land in which parties to a land contract who wished to extricate themselves from that contract claimed the performance of their contractual obligation should be excused because they were unable to secure certain releases to enable them to transfer clear title to the other party by the closing date with the other party arguing the closing date was not an essential element of the contract. In Syllabus Point 2 of *Waddy*, this Court held:

¹¹⁴ Syl. pt. 1, Mowery v. Hitt, 155 W. Va. 103, 181 S.E.2d 334 (1971); see also Evans v. Bayles, 237 W. Va. 269, 275, 787 S.E.2d 540, 546 (2016); In re Michael Ray T., 206 W. Va. 434, 444, 525 S.E.2d 315, 325 (1999); Syl. pt. 3, Voelker v. Frederick Bus. Prop. Co., 195 W. Va. 246, 465 S.E.2d 246 (1995).

¹¹⁵ See Zaleski v. W. Va. Mut. Ins. Co., 224 W. Va. 544, 550, 687 S.E.2d 123, 129 (2009) (finding that an argument raised for first time on appeal was waived).

¹¹⁶ 216 W. Va. at 252-253, 606 S.E.2d at 224-225. *McGinnis v. Cayton, supra*, presented a similar fact pattern resolved, not applying the doctrine of supervening frustration, but mutual mistake as the Court held in Syllabus Point 2: "Where a mistake of both parties at the time a contract was made as to a basic

Under the doctrine of impracticability, a party to a contract who claims that a supervening event has prevented, and thus excused, a promised performance must demonstrate each of the following: (1) the event made the performance impracticable; (2) the nonoccurrence of the event was a basic assumption on which the contract was made; (3) the impracticability resulted without the fault of the party seeking to be excused; and (4) the party has not agreed, either expressly or impliedly, to perform in spite of impracticability that would otherwise justify his nonperformance.

This doctrine has absolutely nothing to do with this case as Segal, a party to 2009 guaranty and 2017 reaffirmation agreements, does not contend that any supervening event has "prevented" him from performing under those agreements, nor does he allege that some supervening event made his performance impracticable, or the non-occurrence of that event was a basic assumption he made when he signed the 2009 and 2017 reaffirmation agreements.

Not only does the doctrine of supervening frustration have no application to this case, but Segal's Brief also tacitly concedes the point by stating, "The Restatement speaks of 'the contract.' In this instance, the contract means not only the operative Change in Terms Agreement ... by which Segal reaffirmed his individual guaranty in 2017, but also the implied contract between Segal and the Trust" This begs the question relative to the doctrine of supervening frustration, "which is it?" Were Segal's 2009 guaranty and 2017 reaffirmation agreements "frustrated" by a "supervening" event or was some non-existent "implied contract" between Segal and the Trust based on some alleged promise by Mr. Puskar to Mr. Hostler that Mr. Puskar had "had taken steps to see I did not get hurt" "frustrated" by a "supervening" event. Of course, this is nonsense.

assumption on which the contract was made has a material effect on the agreed exchange of performances, the contract is voidable by the adversely affected party unless he bears the risk of the mistake."

¹¹⁷ Petitioner's Brief at 11 (emphasis supplied).

¹¹⁸ *Id*.

PITA's suit against Segal for breach of contract is not based on any "implied contract." It is based on two express contracts – Segal's 2009 guaranty and 2017 reaffirmation agreements. The term "implied contract" used in the record exclusively refers to the Trust's suit against Segal for contribution. Again, nowhere in the record did Segal argue that he had any "implied contract" with the Trust, but instead appears to make that argument for the first time on appeal. Moreover, the "supervening" event identified in Segal's Brief is the Trust's funding of PITA's acquisition of the Protea Note, which he describes as an "elaborate artifice to evade the contribution action that was its sole legitimate recourse." The motivations, Segal claims, were "(1) to shift by far the most significant expense of collection – attorney fees ... — to Segal and the other individual guarantors; and (2) to recover the *entire* amount of Protea's defaulted obligation with *no* net loss to itself." This, of course, is preposterous.

First, the Trust sued Segal for his pro rata share of the Protea Note, sought no attorney fee award on its contribution claim, and never disclaimed its liability for its pro rata share. Second, the Trust funded the over \$3 million required for PITA to purchase the Protea Note from United. Finally, there would have been no collection costs, including attorney fees, if Segal had honored his contractual obligations and not necessitated years of unnecessary litigation. Accordingly, the doctrine of supervening frustration has no application to this case.

¹¹⁹ App. 857, 859, 876, 877, 880, 881, 883, 884, 888, 891, 894, 941.

¹²⁰ Petitioner's Brief at 11.

¹²¹ *Id.* (emphasis in original)

¹²² This renders irrelevant Segal's extensive discussion [Petitioner's Brief at 13-14] of *In re Basil St. Partners, LLC*, No. 9:11-BK-19510-FMD, 2012 WL 6101914 at *17 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. Dec. 7, 2012), which stands for the proposition that a guarantor cannot avoid "his percentage of liability ... at the expense of his coguarantors" by acquiring the underlying debt instrument as the Trust has never sought to avoid its guaranty agreement liability and fully funded PITA's acquisition of the Protea Note for over \$3 million.

Beyond that conclusion, from even a cursory review of Segal's legal authority, the doctrine of supervening frustration is used to avoid a party's *contractual* obligation when the party is sued for breach after the party failed to perform because such performance has been made impracticable due to the occurrence of unanticipated events or the non-occurrence of events that were critical to the parties' formation of their contractual relationship, but the Trust did not sue Segal for breach of contract. It sued him for equitable contribution and fraud and the doctrine of supervening frustration has no application to those two causes of action.

C. THE RULE OF DISCHARGE BY ALTERATION OF THE PRINCIPAL'S DUTIES OR OBLIGATIONS HAS NO APPLICATION TO THIS CASE WHERE (1) PITA DID NOTHING TO ALTER PROTEA'S DEBT OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE NOTE AND FILED A BANKRUPTCY CLAIM AGAINST IT AND (2) THE RULE OF DISCHARGE BY ALTERATION APPLIES TO CONTRACT CLAIMS, AND THE TRUST'S CLAIMS AGAINST SEGAL ARE FOR CONTRIBUTION AND FRAUD.

The Respondents have already dispensed with Segal's arguments under *Carr v. Sutton* having absolutely no application to this case as it involved a bail bond and circumstances where the principal was allowed to escape by the authorities who made no effort to apprehend him. Here, the principal, Protea, was not allowed to escape, and PITA did everything it could to collect on its debt obligation under the Note which Segal personally, absolutely, and unconditionally guaranteed, by filing a claim in bankruptcy. The Trust also did nothing to alter Protea's Note obligations.

In addition, Segal cites in his Brief for the first time in this case 38A CJS *Guaranty* § 95 and 23 WILLISTON ON CONTRACTS § 61:32, 123 neither of which have any application to this case.

Not only does 38A CJS *Guaranty* § 95 fail to support Segal's efforts to avoid his liability for contribution to the Trust, but it also supports PITA's claim against Segal for breach of contract.

¹²³ Petitioner's Brief at 15.

First, as with Segal's "doctrine of supervening frustration" argument, the "rule of discharge by alteration" only goes to a guarantor's contractual obligations, not to a coguarantor's obligations of contribution. ¹²⁴ Second, the Trust was not a party to Segal's 2009 guaranty and 2017 reaffirmation agreements as those involved Segal's contractual promises to United and then PITA as assignee of those agreements. Third, the legal encyclopedia states, "A material departure from the terms of a prior contract between the same parties and which would have released the guarantor is not available as a defense to an action founded on a new and independent contract of guaranty, "¹²⁵ and Segal reaffirmed his 2009 guaranty obligations in a 2017 reaffirmation agreement *after* Mr. Puskar had died years earlier ¹²⁶ and *affirmatively represented* that Segal had no oral agreements with anyone that would negate his contractual obligations under that 2009 guaranty. Finally, the "alteration" involved in this doctrine is not to the guaranty agreements, but to the underlying "original

¹²⁴ 38A C.J.S. Guaranty § 95. The other authority cited by Segal, 23 WILLISTON ON CONTRACTS § 61:32, likewise makes crystal clear that the doctrine is limited to a material alteration of the underlying or original contract that is supported by either a guaranty or surety agreement: "As a general rule, a surety may assert affirmative defenses to an obligee's claim of breach of contract based on the obligee's noncompliance with the terms of the performance bond or material alterations to the terms of the underlying contract. ... Consequently, if the terms of the agreement between the creditor and the principal are varied, thereby changing the rights and duties of the principal, a surety who has contracted to answer only for the performance of the original contract will be discharged from liability for the principal's failure to perform the altered contract. ... The basis for the general rule is that the surety cannot be held according to the terms of the *new contract* because the surety never assented to it. ...") (emphasis supplied and footnotes omitted). Even the two cases cited by Segal -- Vastine v. Bank of Dallas, 808 S.W.2d 463 (Tex. 1991) (if creditor and principal debtor vary in any material degree from terms of their contract, then new contract has been formed and guarantor is not bound to it) and Becker v. Faber, 280 N.Y. 146, 19 N.E.2d 997 (1939) (alteration of principal's contractual obligation releases the surety, for the principal is no longer bound to perform the obligation guaranteed and the surety cannot be held responsible for failure to perform any other obligation) - make clear that the doctrine is strictly limited to circumstances where the creditor, in this case United and PITA, materially alter the underlying obligations of the principal, in this case Protea, which never happened.

¹²⁵ *Id.* (footnote omitted).

¹²⁶ Mr. Puskar died on October 7, 2011. App. 1877.

contract" ¹²⁷ and, here, as noted, there was never any alteration of Protea's debt obligations to either United or PITA. Frankly, it is unclear to the Respondents if Segal even read 38A CJS *Guaranty* § 95 before relying on it in his Brief. ¹²⁸

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